UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
WESTERN DIVISION

BOOKFRIENDS, INC. d/b/a
WILKIE NEWS,

101 South Ludlow,

Dayton, Ohio 45402,

AMERICAN BOOKSELLERS
FOUNDATION FOR FREE
EXPRESSION,

139 Fulton Street, Suite 302,

New York, New York 10038;
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ASSOCIATION OF AMERICAN
PUBLISHERS, INC,,

50 F Street NW, Fourth Floor,
Washington, DC 20001,

FREEDOM TO READ FOUNDATION,
c/o American Library Association,

50 East Huron Stret,

Chicago, Illinois 60611;

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF
RECORDING MERCHANDISERS,
Nine Eves Drive, Suite 120,

Marlton, New Jersey 08053;

OHIO NEWSPAPER ASSOCIATION,
1335 Dublin Road, Suite 216B,
Columbus, Ohio 43215;

THE SEXUAL HEALTH NETWORK,
INC.,

Three Mayflower Lane,

Shelton, Connecticut 06484;

AND

VIDEO SOFTWARE DEALERS
ASSOCIATION,

1653 Ventura Boulevard, Suite 400,
Encino, Cdlifornia 91436;
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COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
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THE STATE OF OHIO,
77 High Street, 30th FHoor,
Columbus, Ohio 43215;

BETTY D. MONTGOMERY, inher officid
capacity as ATTORNEY GENERAL OF
THE STATE OF OHIO,

30 East Broad Street, 17th Floor
Columbus, Ohio 43215;

DAVID KELLEY,

ADAMS COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
110 West Main Stredt,

West Union, Ohio 45693;

DAVID BOWERS,

ALLEN COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
204 North Main Stregt, Suite 302,
Lima, Ohio 45801;

ROBERT P. DESANTO,

ASHLAND COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
307 Orange Strest,

Ashland, Ohio;

THOMASL. SARTINI,
ASHTABULA
PROSECUTOR,

25 West Jefferson Strest,
Jefferson, Ohio 44047;

COUNTY

C. DAVID WARREN,

ATHENS COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
One South Court Street, 1st Floor,
Athens, Ohio 45701,

EDWIN A. PIERCE,

AUGLAIZE COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
Auglaise County Courthouse,

P.O. Box 1992,

201 Willipie Street, Suite G4,
Wapakoneta, Ohio 45895;



FRANK PIERCE,

BELMONT COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
147A West Main Strest,

St Clairsville, Ohio 43950;

THOMASF. GREMAN,

BROWN COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
200 East Cherry Strest,

Georgetown, Ohio 45121,

ROBIN PIPER,

BUTLER COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
Government Service Center,

315 High Street, 11th Floor,

Hamilton, Ohio 45011,

DONALD BURNS,

CARROLL COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
49 Public Square,

Carrallton, Ohio 44615;

NICK SELVAGGIO,
CHAMPAIGN COUNTY
PROSECUTOR,

200 North Main Stret,

Urbana, Ohio 43708;

STEPHEN SCHUMAKER,

CLARK COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
50 East Columbia, 4th Foor,
Springfield, Ohio 45502;

DONALD WHITE,
CLERMONTCOUNTY PROSECUTOR,
123 North Third Street,

Batavia, Ohio 45103;

WILLIAM PEELLE,

CLINTON COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
103 East Main Stredt,

Wilmington, Ohio 45177;

ROBERT HERRON,
COLUMBIANA COUNTY
PROSECUTOR,



105 Mark Strest,
Lisbon, Ohio 44432;

ROBERT J. BATCHELOR,
COSHOCTON COUNTY
PROSECUTOR,

239 North Fourth Street,

Coshocton, Ohio 43812-1116;

STAN FLEGM,

CRAWFORD COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
112 E. Mansfield Street, Suite 305,
Bucyrus, Ohio 44820;

WILLIAM MASON,

CUYAHOGA COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
1200 Ontario Street, 9th Floor,

Cleveland, Ohio 44113;

RICHARD M. HOWELL,

DRAKE COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
Drake County Courthouse,

504 South Broadway, 3rd Foor,
Greenville, Ohio 45331;

JEFFERY A. STRAUSBAUGH,
DEFIANCE COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
414 Third Strest,

Defiance, Ohio 43512;

W. DUNCAN WHITNEY,
DELAWARECOUNTY PROSECUTOR,
15W. Winter Street,

Delaware, Ohio 43015;

KEVIN J. BAXTER,

ERIE COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
247 Columbus Avenue, Suite 319,
Sandusky, Ohio 44870;

DAVID L. LANDEFELD,

FAIRFIELD COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
201 S. Broad Streset, 4th Floor,
Lancagter, Ohio 43130;



STEVEN H. ECKSTEIN,

FAYETTE COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
110 E. Court Street,

Washington Court House, Ohio 43160;

RONALD O BRIEN,

FRANKLIN COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
373 S. High Strest, 14th Foor,
Columbus, Ohio 43215;

WILLIAM R. SWIGART,

FULTON COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
123 Courthouse Plaza,

Wauseon, Ohio 43567;

BRENT A. SAUNDERS,

GALLIA COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
18 Locust Strest,

Gdlipoalis, Ohio 45631,

DAVID P. JOYCE,

GEAUGA COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
231 Main Strest,

Chardon, Ohio 44024;

WILLIAM F. SCHENCK, JR.,
GREENE COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
61 Greene Street,

Xenia, Ohio 45385;

C. KEITH PLUMMER,
GUERNSEY COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
139 Courthouse Square,
Cambridge, Ohio 43725;

MICHAEL K. ALLEN,

HAMILTON COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
230 E. Ninth Street, Suite 4000,
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202,

ROBERT A. FRY,

HANCOCK COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
222 Broadway, Room 104,

Findley, Ohio 45840;






TERRY HORD,

HARDIN COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
One Courthouse Square, Suite 50
Kenton, Ohio 43326;

MATTHEW P. PUSKARICH,
HARRISON COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
111 W. Warren Strest,

Cadiz, Ohio 43907;

JOHN H. HANNA,

HENRY COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
822 Oakwood Avenue,

Napoleon, Ohio 43545;

JAMES GRANDEY,

HIGHLAND COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
100 S. High Street, Suite 201,

Hillsboro, Ohio 45133;

LARRY BEAL,

HOCKING COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
88 S. Market Strest,

Logan, Ohio 43138;

ROBERT RINFRET,

HOLMES COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
91 S. Monroe Strest,

Millersburg, Ohio 44654;

RUSSELL LEFFLER,

HURON COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
12 E. Main Stregt, 4th Floor,
Norwalk, Ohio 44857,

JONATHAN BLANTON,

JACKSON COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
350 Portsmouth Strest,

Jackson, Ohio 45640;

BRYAN H. FELMET,

JEFFERSON COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
Jefferson County Justice Center,

16001 State Route 7,

Steubenville, Ohio 43952,
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eet, Suite 234,
Mt. Vernon, Ohio 43050;

CHARLESE. COULSON,

LAKE COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
105 Main Strest,

Painesville, Ohio 44077;

J.B. COLLIER, JR,,
LAWRENCECOUNTY PROSECUTOR,
One Veterans Square, 1st Foor,

[ronton, Ohio 45638;

ROBERT L. BECKER,

LICKING COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
20 S. Second Streset, 4th Floor,
Newark, Ohio 43055;

GERALD L. HEATON,

LOGAN COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
117 E. Columbus Avenue, Suite 200,
Belefontaine, Ohio 43311;

GERGORY A. WHITE,

LORAIN COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
226 Middle Avenue, 4th Floor,

Elyria, Ohio 44035;

JULIA R. BATES,

LUCAS COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
700 Adams Street, Suite 250,
Toledo, Ohio 43624;

STEPHEN J. PRONAL,

MADISON COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
23 W. High Strest,

London, Ohio 43140;

PAUL J. GAINS,
MAHONINGCOUNTY PROSECUTOR,
120 Market Street,

Y oungstown, Ohio 44503;



JM SLAGLE,

MARION COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
133 12 E. Center Street,

Marion, Ohio 43302;

DEAN HOLMAN,

MEDINA COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
72 Public Square,

Medina, Ohio 44256;

PATRICK STORY,

MEIGS COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
117 W. Second Strest,

Pomeroy, Ohio 45769;

ANDREW J. HINDERS,

MERCER COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
119 N. Walnut Strest,

Cdina, Ohio 45822;

GARY NASAL,

MIAMI COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
201 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor,
Troy, Ohio 45373;

LYNN REITHMILLER,

MONROE COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
110 N. Main Street,

Woodsfield, Ohio 43793,

MATHIAS H. HECK, JR.,
MONTGOMERY COUNTY
PROSECUTOR,

301 W. Third Street, 5th Floor,

Dayton, Ohio 45402;

RICHARD D. WELCH,

MORGAN COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
109 E. Main Stredt,

McConndsville, Ohio 43756;

GREGORY A. PERRY,

MORROW COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
60 E. High Strest,

Mt. Gilead, Ohio 43338;






D.MICHAEL HADDOX, MUSKINGUM
COUNTY PROSECUTOR,

27 N. Fifth Strest,

Zanesville, Ohio 43701,

CLIFFORD N. SICKLER,

NOBLE COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
409 Poplar Street, Suite A,

Cddwell, Ohio 43724;

MARK E. MULLIGAN,

OTTAWA COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
315 Madison Street, 2nd Floor,

Port Clinton, Ohio 43452;

JOSEPH R. BURKARD,

PAULDING COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
112 2B N. Water Street,

Paulding, Ohio 45879,

JOSEPH FLAUTT,

PERRY COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
111 North High Street,

New Lexington, Ohio 43764,

P. EUGENE LONG,

PICKAWAY COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
118 E. Main Strest,

Circleville, Ohio 43113;

ROBERT JUNK,

PIKE COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
108 N. Market Street,

Waverly, Ohio 45690

VICTOR VIGLUICCI,

PORTAGE COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
466 S. Chestnut Street,

Ravenna, Ohio 44266;

REBECCA J. FERGUSON,

PREBLE COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
101 E. Main Street, Courthouse 1st Floor
Eaton, Ohio 45320;



KURT SAHLOFF,

PUTNAM COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
321 E. Main Strest,

Ottawa, Ohio 45875;

JAMESJ. MAYER, R,

RICHLAND COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
38 S. Park Strest,

Mansfield, Ohio 44902;

SCOTT NUSBAUM,

ROSS COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
72 N. Paint Street,

Chillicothe, Ohio 45601;

THOMAS STIERWALT,

SANDUSKY COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
100 N. Park Avenue,

Fremont, Ohio 43420;

LYNN A. GRIMSHAW,

SCIOTO COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
602 Seventh Street, Suite 320,
Portsmouth, Ohio 45662;

KENNETH EGBERT,

SENECA COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
71 S. Washington Street,

Tiffin, Ohio 44883;

JAMES STEVENSON,

SHELBY COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
126 N. Main Street,

Sidney, Ohio 45365;

ROBERT D. HOROWITZ,

STARK COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
110 Centra Plaza South, Suite 510,
Canton, Ohio 44702,

SHERRI BEVAN WALSH,
SUMMIT COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
53 University Avenue, 6th Floor,



Akron, Ohio 44308;



DENNISWATKINS,

TRUMBALL COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
160 High Street NW,

Warren, Ohio 44481,

AMANDA SPIES BORNHORST,
TUSCARAWAS COUNTY
PROSECUTOR,

125 E. High Avenue,

New Philadelphia, Ohio 44663;

ALISON BOGGS,

UNION COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
221 W. Fifth Strest,

Marysville, Ohio 43040;

CHARLESF. KENNEDY, I,

VAN WERT COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
101 E. Man Stret,

Van Wert, Ohio 45891,

TIMOTHY GLEESON,

VINTON COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
100 E. Main Strest,

McArthur, Ohio 45651,

TIMOTHY A. OLIVER,

WARREN COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
500 Judtice Drive,

L ebanon, Ohio 45036;

MICHAEL G. SPAHR,
WASHINGTON COUNTY
PROSECUTOR,

205 Putnam Street,

Marietta, Ohio 45750;

MARTIN FRANTZ,

WAYNE COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
115 W. Liberty Stre<t,

Wooster, Ohio 44691,

CRAIG ROTH,
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Bryan, Ohio 43506;



ALAN R. MAYBERRY,

WOOD COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
One Courthouse Square,

Bowling Green, Ohio 43402,

E. MICHAEL PFEIFER,

WYANDOT COUNTY PROSECUTOR,
110 E. Wyandot Avenue,

Upper Sandusky, Ohio 43351,

All in thar official capacities as County
Prosecutors,

Defendants.



Now come Plaintiffs, who for their complaint against defendants, state as follows:
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. Thisisan action brought pursuant to state and federd law, including the First and Fourteenth
Amendments to the United States Congtitution and Article I, Section11 of the Ohio Condtitution, dleging
that the State of Ohio, by and through itslegidative and executive bodies, has enacted anoverly broad and
uncongtitutiond gatutory scheme which improperly crimindizesthe sde and dissemination of materid that
is defined to be “harmful to juveniles” This legidation improperly burdens the exercise of the right to free
expressionand promotes saf-censorship by enacting achilling effect uponthe sde, display, exhibition, and
dissemination of legitimate, congtitutionally-protected speech and expression.

2. Included within the types of presumptively-protected expressve materid implicated by the
“harmful to juvenile’ atutes -- which are codified at O.R.C. 88 2907.01(E), 2907.01(J), 2907.31, and

2907.311 -- aredepictions of violence or cruelty, bodily functions, physicd torture, and sexud activity or



nudity whichdo not appeal to the prurient interest of minors. Alsoincluded are materidswhich contain foul
language, representations of crimind activity, and sexudly explicit depictions that have serious redeeming
literary, artidtic, palitica, or scientific value to minors. These content-based redtrictions gpply equdly to
materials sold or distributed both in person and on the Internet.

3. Applicaion of the“harmful to juvenile’ restrictions would restrain and ultimately preclude the
otherwiselavful sde and disseminationto minorsof such popular, acclaimed, and socidly important books
as Carrie by Stephen King, A Time To Kill by John Grisham, The Coldest Winter Ever by Sister
Souljah, Daddy Cool by Dondd Goines, The Hot Zone by Richard Preston, Dead Man Walking by
Sister Helen Prgean, and The Last Report on the Miracles at Little No Horse by Louise Erdich. The
“harmful to juvenile’ redtrictions would aso sweep within their coverage many award-winning motion
pictures, indudingfor example Saving Private Ryan, Goodfellas, Butch Cassidy and the SundanceKid,
The Godfather, Schindler’s List, and Unforgiven.

4. The “harmful to juveniles’ definition, as gpplied in O.R.C. 88 2907.31 and 2907.311, dso
cimindizes the display or sale to, or the perusal by, a person under 18 of newspapers and other news
media reporting and commenting on newsand current events, suchas crimes, battles, epidemics, and other
matters of importance in violation of the free expression and free press clauses of the First Amendment to
the United States Condtitution and related guarantees.

5. Inaddition, application of the restrictionsto the Internet violates both the First Amendment and
the federal Commerce Clause. The United States Supreme Court recently invaidated asmilar federd law
on First Amendment grounds, see Reno v. ACLU, 521 U.S. 844 (1997), after which the Third Circuit
Court of Appeds enjoined enforcement of asecond federd law onsmilar groundsin ACLU v. Reno, 217

F.3d 162 (3d Cir. 2000), aff'g 31 F.Supp.2d 473 (E.D. Pa 1999). In addition, six (6) other laws



containing Smilar content-based restrictions have been struck down in their entirety or enjoined as
unconditutional. See ACLU v. Johnson, 194 F.3d 1149 (10th Cir. 1999), aff’ g 4 F.Supp.2d 1024 (D.
N.M. 1998); Cyberspace Communications, Inc. v. Engler, 238 F.3d 420 (6th Cir. 2000); American
Booksellers Fdn. for Free Expression v. Dean, No. 1:01-CV46, (D. Vt. Apr. 18, 2002); ACLU v.
Napolitano, Civ. No. 00-506 (D. Az. Feb. 19, 2002); PSINet, Inc. v. Chapman, 167 F.Supp.2d 878
(W.D. Va. 2001); American Libraries Association v. Pataki, 969 F.Supp. 160 (S.D. N.Y. 1997).

6. In addition, both the “hamful to juveniles’ definition and the Internet restriction include
unconditutionaly vague and inddfinite language, induding the falowing: “bizarre,” “violence” “cruety,”
“brutdity,” “functions of dimination,” “repeeted,” “foul language,” “violent physcd torture,” “destruction
of a human being,” “glorify,” “glamorize” “crimind activity,” “dominant tendency to corrupt,” “actively
connected,” “web site,” “ Section 2907.311 of the Revised Code and the portions of Section 2907.31 of
the Revised Code that pertainto materids that are harmful to juveniles but not obscene to the person who
sends the e-mail message or who directly presents the image or text,” “ specific, known juvenile” “group
of known juveniles,” *“computer facility,” “fadlity, system or network that is engaged in the violation of
Section 2907.31,” “reasonable,” “effective,” and “appropriate” Use of such vague and undefined terms
renders the entirety of the atutory scheme fatdly uncongtitutiond.

7. On May 6, 2002, Defendant Governor Bob Taft signed into law House Bill 8 despite its
obvious facid uncondtitutionality. The latter part of the Bill -- the portion of the law whichischalengedin
this Complaint -- amends O.R.C. 88 2907.01 and 2907.35. These amendments are referred to in this
Complaint as“the Act.”

8. Unless enforcement of the Act is enjoined by this Court, the Act will take effect on August 5,

2002.



9. UndertheAct, depictionsor descriptions of nudity or sexua conduct, violence, crimind activity
or excretory functions, amnong others, dthough protected by the Firs Amendment, are potentidly crimind
if communicated onthe Internet and made accessble in Ohio, or if sold, reused, disseminated or available
for perusd in retal establishments in Ohio, S0 long as someone findsiit to be “harmful to juveniles’ under
the Act’s broad definition. This could include, inter alia, a detailed, educationa description of sexud
activity contained on Plaintiff The Sexua Hedth Network’s Web site.

10. Since dl speech on the Internet is accessble in Ohio, regardless of the geographical location
of the person who posted it, the Act threatens Internet users nationwide and even worldwide.

11. Paintiffs herein do not chalenge the power of the State of Ohio to regulate obscenity, child
pornography, speech used to entice or lure minors into ingppropriate activity, or harassng speech.

12. Thelnternet redtriction, however, regulates more than just obscenity or child pornography on
the Internet; it regulatesand ultimately crimindizes a broad range of congtitutiona ly-protected speechand
expresson. The Internet represents the most participatory marketplace of mass speech yet devel oped.
It is in many ways a far more speech-enhancing medium than radio, televison, print, the mails, or the
proverbid village green. Hundreds of millions of people can now engage in interactive communication on
anationd and globa scale via computer networks that are connected to the Internet. The Internet enables
average ditizens, with a few ample tools and at a very low cost, to participate in local or worldwide
conversations, publish an online newspaper, distribute an eectronic pamphlet, and communicate with a
broader audience than ever before possible. The Internet dso provides millions of userswith accessto a
vadt range of information and resources. Internet users are far from passive listeners, rather, they are
empowered by the Internet to seek out exactly the information they need and to respond with their own

communication if desred.



13. Because of the way the Internet works, the Internet restriction’ sprohibition on distributing to
minors materid that “appears on a computer monitor” and that is “harmful to juveniles’ effectively bans
digribution of that same materid to adults.

14. Ins0 doing, the Act targets speechthat is congtitutionaly-protected for adults and juveniles.
This includes, for example, vauable works of literature and art, news reports as to crime and current
events, higtorica nonfiction, safer sexinformation, examplesof popular culture, and awiderange of robust
human discourse about current issues and persona matters that may include provocative, violent, or
sexudly oriented language and images.

15. Theinevitable effect of the Act, if permitted to stand, will one of saf-censorship. Asaresult
of the redtrictions contained in the Act, retailers, distributors, publishers and producers of periodicals,
books, mation pictures, videos, sound recordings, and newspapers, in addition to Internet content
providers will limit the range of ther congtitutionaly-protected speech to avoid the coverage of the Act.
Evenif the “harmful to juveniles’ definitionwere limited to the types of materia permitted to be crimindized
by Ginsbergv. New York, 390 U.S. 629 (1968), and Miller v. California, 413 U.S. 15 (1973), Internet
content providerswill be forced to limit the range of their congtitutionally-protected speech becausethere
are no reasonabl e technol ogical means that enable users of the Internet to ascertain the age of persons who
access their communications, or to restrict or prevent access by minorsto certain content. Consequently,
the Act reduces adult speskers and users in cyberspace to reading and communicating only meateria that
issuitable for young children.

16. In addition, even if the “harmful to juveniles’ definition were so limited, the Act prohibits

gpeech that is vauable and condtitutionaly-protected for minors, especialy older minors.



17. TheInternet restriction aso violates the Commerce Clause of the United States Congtitution
because it regulates commerce occurring whally outsde of the State of Ohio, because it imposes an
impermissible burden on interstate and foregn commerce, and because it subjects interstate use of the
Internet to inconsstent state regulations. An online user outside of Ohio cannot know whether someone
in Ohio might download his or her content posted on the Web; consequently, the user must comply with
Ohio law or face the threat of crimina prosecution.

18. Plaintiffs include and represent a broad range of individuas and entities who are speakers,
content providers, and access providers on the Internet. Plaintiffs post and discuss content including
resources on AIDS prevention, visud art and images, literature, and books and resources for gay and
leshian youth.

19. TheAct violatesthe Firg, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights of Plaintiffs, their members,
thar users, and tens of millions of other speakers and users of the Internet and threatens them with
irreparable harm.  The Act dso violates the Commerce Clause of the United States Condtitution as
previoudy st forth.

20. Thisactionseeksto havethe Act declared facidly uncongtitutiond and void, and to have the
State of Ohio and its agents enjoined from enforcing the Act, by reason of the Firgt, Fifthand Fourteenth
Amendments to, and the Commerce Clause of, the United States Congtitution.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

21. This case arises under the United States Condtitution and the laws of the United States and
presents a federa question within this Court’s Article 111 jurisdiction. As such, jurisdiction is proper
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 28 U.S.C. § 1343(3), given that this sLit seeks remedies under 28

U.S.C. 88 2201 and 2202, 42 U.S.C. 88 1983 and 1988, and Fed. R. Civ. P. 65.
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22. Venueisproper in thisdistrict pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).
THE PARTIES

23. Hantff BOOKFRIENDS, INC., d/b/aWILKIENEWS, (“Wilki€’) isan Ohio corporation
operating a bookstore in Dayton, Ohio. It is the oldest independent bookstore in Ohio, having been
founded in 1894. Wilkie sues on its own behaf and on behdf of its customers.

24. PFantff AMERICAN BOOKSELLERS FOUNDATION FOR FREE EXPRESSION
(“ABFFE”) is anot-for-profit organization created by the American Booksellers Association in 1990 to
inform and educate booksdllers, other members of the book industry, and the public about the dangers of
censorship and to promote and protect the free expression of ideas, particularly freedom in the choice of
reading materias. ABFFE isincorporated in Delaware and hasitsprincipa place of busnessin New Y ork
City, New York. Mogt of ABFFE’ smembers, including Plaintiff Wilkie, are bookstoreswhich arelocated
and operated inthe United States. ABFFE sues on its own behaf, on behaf of its memberswho operate
bookstores in Ohio or who use online computer communications systems throughout the country, and on
behdf of the patrons of their member bookstores in Ohio and e sewhere.

25. Paintiff ASSOCIATION OF AMERICAN PUBLISHERS, INC. (*AAFP’) isthe national
asociation of the United States book publishing industry.  AAP's gpproximately 300 members include
most of the mgjor commercid book publishers in the United States, as well as smaler and non-profit
publishers, university presses, and scholarly associations. AAP memberspublish hardcover and paperback
books in every fidd and arange of educational materids for the elementary, secondary, post-secondary,
and professonad markets. Membersof AAP aso produce computer software and eectronic productsand
sarvices. AAPisincorporatedinNew Y ork and hasits principa places of businessinNew Y ork City and

inthe Didrict of Columbia. AAP represents an industry whose very existence dependson thefree exercise

11



of rightsguaranteed by the First Amendment. AAP sueson itsown behdf, on behalf of itsmemberswhose
books are sold in Ohio or who use online computer communications systems throughout the country, and
on behdf of the readers of its members books.

26. Plaintiff FREEDOM TO READ FOUNDATION, INC. (*FTRF’) is a non-profit
membership organization established in 1969 by the AmericaLibrary Association to promote and defend
Firg Amendment rights, to foster libraries as inditutions fulfilling the promise of the Firs Amendment for
every dtizen, to support the rightsof librariesto includeintheir collections and make available to the public
any work they may legdly acquire, and to set legd precedent for the freedom to read on behdf of al
ctizens FTRFisincorporated inlllinoisand hasits principa place of businessin Chicago. FTRF sueson
its own behdf, on behdf of its members in Ohio or who use online computer communications sysems
throughout the country, and on behaf of the patrons of its member libraries.

27. Pantff NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF RECORDING MERCHANDISERS
(“NARM”) is an internationd trade association whose more than 1,000 members include recorded
entertainment retailers, wholesders, distributors, and manufacturers, many of whom conduct business over
the Internet. NARM isincorporated inDeawareand hasits principd place of busnessin Marlton, New
Jarsey. NARM sues on its own behaf, on behalf of its members located in Ohio or who use online
computer communications systems throughout the country, and on behdf of their consumers.

28. Hantff OHIO NEWSPAPERASSOCIATION (*ONA”) isatradeassoci ationrepresenting
al 84 of Ohio’ sdally newspapers and an additional 90 weekly newspapers. ONA isincorporatedin Ohio
and hasits principd office in Columbus, Ohio. ONA suesonitsown behaf and onbehdf of itsmembers.

29. PRantiff THE SEXUAL HEALTH NETWORK, INC., (“the Sexua Hedlth Network™) isa

amdl, Internet-based company incorporated in the State of Delaware. It mantains a Web ste a

12



http:/mww.Sexud hedth.com. The Sexud Hedth Network was founded in May of 1996 by Dr. Mitchell
Tepper while he was working on his doctoral dissertation at the University of Pennsylvania Program in
Human Sexudlity Education. Dr. Tepper dso has a Magter in Public Health degree from the Yade
Univerdity School of Medicine. Mr. Tepper is currently the President of the Sexud HedthNetwork. The
Sexual HedthNetwork is dedicated to providingeasy access to sexudity information, education, and other
sexudity resources for people withdisability, chronic iliness, or other hedth-related problems. The Sexua
Hedlth Network sues on its own behaf and on behaf of users of Sexuahedth.com on the World Wide
Web.

30. TheVIDEO SOFTWAREDEALERSASSOCIATIONS(“VSDA”) isthetradeassociation
for the home video industry. It represents morethan 1,700 member companiesinNorth America and 12
countriesworldwide, induding retailers of motion picturevideosand video games, the home video divisons
of mgor and independent motion picture studios, and other associated busi nessesthat comprisethe home
video entertainment industry. VSDA isincorporated in the State of Delaware, and its principa business
location isin Encino, Cdifornia. VSDA sueson its own behdf, on behdf of its members in the state of
Ohio, and on behdf of the customers of its members.

31. Defendant BOB TAFT isthe Governor of the State of Ohio and issued inhis officid capacity
assuch. Heisvested with the executive power of the State of Ohio and has the duty to ensure that the
laws of the State of Ohio are fully and fathfully executed. Pursuant to this executive power, Bob Taft
sgned the Act into law on May 6, 2002.

32. Defendant BETTY D. MONTGOMERY isthe Attorney Generd of the State of Ohio and
issued inher officid capacity assuch. Sheisthechief law officer of the State of Ohio with authority in both

civil and crimind meatters.
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33. The remaning named Defendants are the county prosecutors in each of the counties in the
State of Ohio, who have the duty to prosecute crimes, including violations of the Act.
STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Internet Generdly

34. ThelInternet isadecentralized, globa mediumof communicationthat links peopl g, inditutions,
corporations, and governments around the world. It is a giant computer network that interconnects
innumerable smdler groups of linked computer networks and individua computers. While precise
edimates are difficult to formulate due to its constant and rgpid growth, the Internet is currently believed
to connect more than 159 countries and close to 322 million usersworldwide. Analysts project that the
Internet will grow to 490 million users by the year 2002. In addition, approximately 84% of al Internet
users use eectronic mail, or “e-mail,” a message system which dlows users to communicate via the
Internet. In 1998, 3.4 trillion e-mail messages were sent in the United States -- over 9.3 billion messages
aday.

35. Because the Internet merdly links together numerous individual computers and computer
networks, no sngle entity or group of entities controls the material made available on the Internet or
otherwise limits the ability of others to access such materids. Rather, the range of digital information
avalable to Internet users -- which includes text, images, sound and video -- is individualy created,
maintained, controlled, and located on millions of separate individual computers around the world.

36. The Internet presents extremely low entry barriers to anyone who wishes to provide or
digtribute information or gain access to it. Unlike television, cable, radio, newspapers, magazines, or
books, the Internet provides the average citizen with an affordable means for communicating with,

accessing, and posting content to a worldwide audience.

14



Accessing the Internet

37. Individuds have severd easy means of gaining accessto computer communications sysems
ingenerd and tothelnternet inparticular. Many educationd ingtitutions, businesses, and local communities
maintain an easily accessible computer network which islinked directly to the Internet.

38. Inaddition, many libraries provide their patrons with free access to the Internet through
computerslocated at the library. Somelibrarieseven host online discussion groups and chat rooms. Many
libraries dso post their card catdogs and online versions of materia from their collections.

39. Internet service providers (“ISP's’) alow subscribers to dia onto the Internet by using a
modem and a personal computer to access computer networks that are linked directly to the Internet.
Some |SP' s charge amonthly fee ranging from $15.00 to $50.00 monthly, but some provide their users
with free or very low-cost Internet access.

40. National commercid onlineservices, suchas AmericaOnling, serve as ISP sand dsoprovide
subscribers with additiond services, induding access to extensive content within their own proprietary

networks.
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Exchanging Information on the Internet

41. Mot Internet users select user names, e-mail addresses, or both that dlow them to log on
to the Internet and to communicatewithother users. Many user names are pseudonyms or pen namesthat
often provide users with a digtinct online identity and help to preserve their anonymity and privecy.
America Online dlows every subscriber to use up to Sx different “ screen names,” which may be used by
different family members or as separate pseudonyms by anindividud. The user name and e-mail address
arethe only indicators of the user’s identity; that is, persons communicating with the user will only know
them by their user name and e-mail address, unlessthe user chooses to reved other persona information.

42. Once an individud signs on to the Internet, there are a wide variety of methods for
communicating and exchanging information with other users.

E-Mall

43. The amplest and perhaps most widdy used method of communication on the Internet is
eectronic mail, whichiscommonly referred to as“e-mail.” Using one of dozens of available “mailers’ -
software capable of reading and writing an e-mail -- auser is able to address and transmit via computer
amessage to a specific individua or group of individuas who have e-mail addresses.

Discusson Groups, Mailing Ligts, and Chat Rooms

44. Online discussion groups are another of the most popular forms of communication via
computer network. Discussion groups alow users of computer networksto post messagesonto a public
computerized bulletinboard and to read and respond to messagesposted by othersinthe discussiongroup.
Discusson groups have been organized on many different computer networks and cover virtudly every
topic imaginable. Discussion groups can be formed by individuds, indtitutions, or organizations, or by

particular computer networks.
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45. “"USENET” newsgroupsare avery popular set of bulletin board discusson groups available
on the Internet and other networks. Currently there are USENET news groups on more than 30,000
different subjects, and over 100,000 new messages are posted to these groups each day.

46. Smilarly, users dso can communicate withinagroup by subscribing to automated eectronic
mailing ligs that dlow any subscriber to a particular mailing list to post a message that is automaticaly
digtributed to al other subscribers. These lists are sometimes called “mail exploders’ or “list servs.”

47. “Cha rooms’ dso dlow users to engage in Smultaneous conversations with another user or
group of users by typing messages and reading the messages typed by others participating in the “chat.”
Chat rooms are avalable onthe Internet and through commercid online services. Although chat roomsare
often set up by particular organizations or networks, any individua user can gart an online “chat.”

48. Online discusson groups, mailing ligts, and chat rooms cregte an entirely new globa public
forum -- acyberspace village green-- where people can associate and communicate withotherswho have
common interests, and engage in discusson or debate on every imaginable topic.

The World Wide Web

49. The World Wide Web (the “Web") is the most popular way to provide and retrieve
information on the Internet. Anyone with access to the Internet and proper software can create “Web
pages’ or “home pages’ which may contain many different types of digita information -- text, images,
sound, and evenvideo. TheWeb comprisesmillionsof separate“Web sites’ that display content provided
by particular persons or organizations. Any Internet user anywhere in the world withthe proper software
can create her own Web page, view Web pages posted by others, and then read text, look at imagesand

video, and listen to sounds posted at these Sites.
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50. The Web servesin part as aglobd, online repository of knowledge, containing information
from a diverse array of sources, which is easily accessbleto Internet users around the world. Though
informationon the Web is contained onindividua computers, each of these computersis connected to the
Internet through Web protocols that alow the informationonthe Web to become part of asingle body of
knowledge accessible by al Web users.

51. Many large corporations, banks, brokerage houses, newspapers, and magazines currently
provide online editions of thar publications and reports on the Web or operate independent Web Stes.
Many government agencies and courts aso use the Web to disseminate information to the public. For
example, Defendants Bob Taft and Betty D. Montgomery have posted Internet Web sites containing
information avalable to the public. In addition, many individud users and smdl community organizations
have established individuaized home pages on the Web that provide information of interest to members
of the particular organization, communities, and other individuas.

52. To gan access to the information available on the Web, a person generdly uses a Web
“browser” -- software suchas Netscape Navigator or Internet Explorer -- to display, print, and download
documentsthat are formatted in the standard Web formatting language. Each document on the Web has
an address that allows usersto find and retrieve it.

53. Most Web documentsalso contain “links.” These are short sections of text or imagethat refer
and link to another document. Typicdly the linked text is blue or underlined when displayed, and when
selected by the user onher computer screen, the referenced document isautometicaly displayed, wherever
intheworld it actudly isstored. Links, for example, are used to lead from overview documents to more
detailed documents on the same Web site, from tables of contents to particular pages, and from text to

cross-references, footnotes, and other forms of information.
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54. Links may aso take the user from the origind Web ste to another Web dte on a different
computer connected to the Internet, a computer that may be located in a different areaof the country, or
even theworld.

55. Throughthe use of these links from one computer to ancther, from one document to another,
the Web for the firg time unifiesthe diverse and voluminous information made available by millions of users
on the Internet into a single body of knowledge that can be searched and accessed.

56. A number of “search engines’ and directories -- such as'Y ahoo, Google, WebCrawler, and
Lycos -- are available free of charge to help users navigate the World Wide Web. Once a user has
accessed the search service, he or she smply typesaword or string of words as a search request and the
search engine provides alist of Stes that match the search string.

57. Ascanbe seenfrom the various ways that people can exchange informationand communicate
viathis new technology, the Internetis“interactive’ inways that distinguishit fromtraditional communication
media. For ingance, users are not passive recaivers of information as with televison and radio; rather, a
user caneesly respond to the materia he or shereceivesor viewsonline. Inaddition, “interactivity” means
that Internet users must actively seek out with specificity the informationthey wishto retrieve and the kinds
of communicationsin which they wish to engage. For example, a user wishing to read articles posted to
anewsgroup must logonto the Internet and thenconnect to a USENET server, select the relevant group,
review the rdlevant header lines -- which provide brief content descriptions -- for eachmessage, and then
access a particular message to read its content. Similarly, to gain access to materid on the World Wide
Web, a user mugt know and type the address of ardevant site or find the Site by typing a rdlevant search
gring in one of severa available search engines or by activating a Web ste link.

The Range of Content Available on the Internet
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58. Theinformationmade available onthe Internet is as diverse as humanthought. Content on the
Internet is provided by the millions of Internet users worldwide and ranges from academic writings, to
humor, to art, to literature, to medica information, to music, to news, to movie clips, to human sexudity.
For example, on the Internet one can view the full text of the Bible, al of the works of Shakespeare, and
numerous other classic works of literature. One canbrowse through paintings from museums around the
world, view indetall images of the ceiling of the Sistine Chapel, or hear sdections fromthe latest rap musc
adbums. At any one time, the Internet serves as the communication medium for literally hundreds of
thousands of globa conversations, politica debates, and socia dialogues.

59. Although the overwhdming mgority of the information on the Internet does not involve nudity
or sexud activity, such materid isavalable on the Internet. For example, anInternet user can read online
John Cldland’ seighteenth-century novel, Fanny Hill: Memoirs of a Woman of Pleasure, view the digitd
photography of Diane Fengter, receive ingtructions on how to practice safer sex, participate in a question
and answer forum on methodsfor enhancing sexua experiences, and exchange e-mail about apopular new
rgo musc lyric. Much of this materid is amilar, if not identica, to materid that is routindy discussed in
cafes and on the street corners and digtributed by libraries, bookstores, record stores, and newsstands
every day.

The Satutory L anguage & Issue

60. OnMay 6, 2002, Defendant Governor Bob Taft Sgned into law House Bill 8, effective August
5, 2002, part of which repeals O.R.C. 88 2907.01 and 2907.35 and subgtitutes new provisonsin their
place. Those amendments, referred to in this Complaint as“the Act,” are the following:

Sec. 2907.01. Asused in sections 2907.01 to 2907.37 of the Revised Code:
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(A) “Sexud conduct” means vagind intercourse between a mae and femae; and
intercourse, fdlatio, and cunnilingus between persons regardless of sex; and, without
privilege to do 0, the insertion, however dight, of any part of the body or any insrumernt,
apparatus, or other object into the vagind or ana cavity of another. Penetration, however
dight, is sufficient to complete vagind or and intercourse.

(B) “Sexud contact” means any touching of an erogenous zone of another, including
without limitation the thigh, genitas, buttock, pubic region, or, if the personisafemde, a
breedt, for the purpose of sexually arousing or gratifying ether person.
(©) “Sexud activity” means sexua conduct or sexud contact, or both.

(D) “Progtitute’ means amde or femae who promiscuoudy engagesinsexud activity for
hire, regardless of whether the hire is paid to the progtitute or to another.

(E) Any materid or performance is “harmful to juveniles” if it is offensve to prevailing
gandardsin the adult community with respect to whet is suitable for juveniles, and if any
of the following apply:

(2) It tendsto gpped to the prurient interest of juveniles,

(2) It contains a display, description, or representation of sexud activity,
masturbation, sexud excitement, or nudity;

(3) It contansadisplay, description, or representation of bestidityor extreme
or bizarre violence, crudty, or brutdity;

(4) It contains adisplay, description, or representation of human bodily functions
of dimination;
(5) It makes repeated use of foul language;

(6) It containsadisplay, description, or representation in lurid detail of the violent
physica torture, dismemberment, destruction, or death of a human being;

(7) It contains a display, description, or representation of criminal activity that
tendsto glorify or glamorize the activity, and that, withrespecttojuveniles, has
a dominant tendency to corrupt.

(F) Whenconsidered as awhole, and judged with reference to ordinary adults or, if it is

designed for sexud deviates or other goecidly susceptible group, judged with reference to
that group, any materid or performance is “obscene’ if any of the following apply:
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(1) Itsdominant appedl isto prurient interest;

(2) Its dominant tendency is to arouse lust by displaying or depicting sexua
activity, masturbation, sexud excitement, or nudity in a way that tends to
represent human beings as mere objects of sexud appetite;

(3) Itsdominant tendency isto arouselust by displaying or depicting bestidity or
extreme or bizarre violence, crudty, or brutdity;

(4) Its dominant tendency is to apped to scatologica interest by displaying or
depicting human bodily functions of dimination in away that inspires disgust
or revulson in persons withordinary senshilities, without serving any genuine
scientific, educationa, sociologica, mord, or artistic purpose;

(5) It contains a series of displays or descriptions of sexud activity, masturbation,
sexud excitement, nudity, betidity, extreme or bizarre violence, cruelty, or
brutdity, or human bodily functions of eimination, the cumulative effect of
which is a dominant tendency to appeal to prurient or scatologica interest,
when the appeal to such an interest is primarily for its own sake or for
commercid exploitation, rather than primarily for a genuine scientific,
educationd, sociologica, mord, or artistic purpose.

(G) *“Sexud excitement” means the conditionof human mae or femde genitdswhenina
date of sexud simulation or arousd.

(H) “Nudity” means the showing, representation, or depiction of human mae or femde
genitas, pubic area, or buttocks with less than a full, opague covering, or of a femae
breast with less than afull, opaque covering of any portion thereof below the top of the
nipple, or of covered mae genitasin adiscernibly turgid Sate.

() “Juvenile’ means an unmarried person under the age of eighteen.
() “Materid” means one of the following:

(1)(a) Asusedinsection 2907.311 of the Revised Codeand inthe portionsof section
2907.31 of the Revised Code that pertain to materias that are harmful to juveniles but
not obscene, “materid” means any book, magazine, newspaper, pamphlet, poster,

print, picture, figure, image, description, motion picture film, phonographic record,
tape, or other tangible thing capabl e of arousing interest through sight, sound, or touch
and, except as provided in divison (J)(1)(b) of this section, includesanimage or text
appearing on a computer monitor or on atelevison screen, liquid crystd display, or
smilar display device used as a computer monitor or an image or text recorded on a
computer hard disk, computer floppy disk, magnetic tape, or Smilar storage device.
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(b) Asusedin section 2907.311 of the Revised Code and in the portions of section
2907.31 of the Revised Code that pertain to materias that are harmful to juvenilesbut
not obscene, both of the following apply:

() Except as otherwise provided in divison (J)(2)(b)(ii) of this section,
“materid” does not include an image or text that appears on a computer
monitor or on atelevison screen, liquid crystd display, or smilar display
device used as a computer monitor while the monitor, screen, display, or
deviceis actively connected to aweb Ste on the internet.

(i) “Materid” includes an image or text that appears on a computer
monitor or on atelevison screen, liquid crystd display, or smilar display
device used as a computer monitor while the monitor, screen, display, or
deviceis actively connected to a web gte on the internet if the image or
text is contained in an emal message or if the image or text is 0
gppearing on the monitor, screen, display, or device during a direct
presentation to a specific, known juvenile or group of known juveniles.
The image or text is “materid” under this divison only regarding the
application of section 2907.311 of the Revised Code and the portions of
section 2907.31 of the Revised Code that pertain to materials that are
harmful to juveniles but not obscene to the person who sends the emal
message or who directly presentsthe image or text to the specific, known
juvenile or group of known juveniles.

(2) Asusedinadl provisonsof sections 2907.01 to 2907.37 of the Revised Code
that are not identified indivison(J)(1) of this section, “materid” means any book,
magazine, newspaper, pamphlet, poster, print, picture, figure, image, description,
motion picture film, phonographic record, or tape, or other tangible thing capable
of arousing interest through sight, sound, or touch and includes an image or text
appearing on a computer monitor, televison screen, liquid crysta display, or
amilar display device or animage or text recorded on a computer hard disk,
compuiter floppy disk, compact disk, magnetic tape, or Smilar datastorage device.

(K) “Performance’” means any motion picture, preview, trailer, play, show, skit, dance,
or other exhibition performed before an audience.

(L) “Spouss” means a person married to an offender at the time of an dleged offense,
except that such person shdl not be considered the spouse when any of the following

aoply:

(1) When the parties have entered into awritten separati on agreement authorized by
section 3103.06 of the Revised Code;
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(2) During the pendency of an action between the parties for annulment, divorce,
dissolution of marriage, or legd separation;

(3) Inthecaseof anactionfor legd separation, after the effective date of thejudgment
for lega separation.

(M) “Minor” means a person under the age of eighteen.
Sec. 2907.35.

(A) Anowner or manager, or agent or employee of anowner or manager, of abookstore,
newsstand, theater, or other commercia establishment engaged in sdling materids or
exhibiting performances, who, in the course of business:

(1) Possesses five or more identical or substantidly smilar obscene articles, having
knowledge of their character, is presumed to possess them in violation of division
(A)(5) of section 2907.32 of the Revised Code;

(2) Does any of the acts prohibited by section 2907.31 or 2907.32 of the Revised
Code, ispresumed to have knowledge of the character of the materia or performance
involved, if the owner, manager, or agent or employee of the owner or manager has
actual notice of the nature of suchmeaterid or performance, whether or not the owner,
manager, or agent or employee of the owner or manager has precise knowledge of its
contents.

(B) Without limitation on the manner in which such notice may be given, actud notice of
the character of materid or a performance may be giveninwriting by the chief legd officer
of the jurisdictioninwhichthe person to whom the notice is directed does business. Such
notice, regardless of the manner in which it is given, shdl identify the sender, identify the
materid or performance involved, state whether it is obscene or harmful to juveniles, and
bear the date of such notice.

(C) Sections2907.31 and 2907.32 of the Revised Code do not apply to amotion picture
operator or projectionist acting within the scope of employment as an employee of the
owner or manager of atheater or other place for the showing of motion pictures to the
genera public, and having no managerid respongbility or financidinterest inthe operator's
or projectionist's place of employment, other than wages.

(D)(1) Sections 2907.31, 2907.311, 2907.32, 2907.321, 2907.322, 2907.323, and
2907.34 and divison (A) of section 2907.33 of the Revised Code do not apply to a
person solely because the person provided access or connection to or from a computer
fadlity, sysem, or network not under that person's control, including having provided
transmisson, downloading, intermediate storage, access software, or other related
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cagpahiilities that are incidental to providing access or connection to or from a computer
fadlity, system, or network, and that do not include the creation of the content of the
materid that isthe subject of the access or connection.

(2) Divison (D)(2) of this section does not apply to a person who conspires with an
entity actively involved in the crestion or knowing digtribution of materid in violation
of section2907.31, 2907.311, 2907.32, 2907.321, 2907.322, 2907.323, 2907.33,
or 2907.34 of the Revised Code or who knowingly advertises the availability of
materid of that nature.

(3) Divison (D)(2) of this sectiondoes not gpply to a person who provides access or
connection to acomputer facility, system, or network thet is engaged in the violation
of section2907.31, 2907.311, 2907.32, 2907.321, 2907.322, 2907.323, 2907.33,
or 2907.34 of the Revised Code and that contains content that person has selected
and placed in or on the fadlity, system, or network or content over which that person
exercises editorid control.

(E) An employer is not guilty of a violation of section 2907.31, 2907.311, 2907.32,
2907.321, 2907.322, 2907.323, 2907.33, or 2907.34 of the Revised Code based onthe
actions of an employee or agent of the employer unlessthe employee's or agent's conduct
iswithinthe scope of employee's or agent's employment or agency, and theemployer does
ether of the following:

(2) Withknowledge of the employee's or agent's conduct, the employer authorizesor
ratifies the conduct.

(2) The employer recklessly disregards the employee's or agent's conduct.
(F) It is an affirmative defense to a charge under section 2907.31 or 2907.311 of the
Revised Code as the section gpplies to an image transmitted through the internet that the
person charged with violating the section has taken, in good fath, reasonable, effective,
and appropriate actions under the circumstancesto restrict or prevent access by juveniles
to materid that is harmful to juveniles, induding any method that is feasible under available
technology.

Section 2. That exiding sections . . . 2907.01, and 2907.35 of the Revised Code are
hereby repedled.

61. Sections 2907.31(B) and (C) of the Ohio Revised Code attempt to provide defensesto lighility
under the Internet redtrictions of the Act by stating that it is an affirmative defense:

(B)(1) The defendant isthe parent, guardian, or spouse of the juvenile involved.
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(2) Thejuvenileinvolved, a thetime of the conduct in question, was accompanied by his
parent or guardian who, with knowledge of its character, consented to the materid or
performance being furnished or presented to the juvenile.

(3) Thejuvenile exhibited to the defendant or his agent or employee a draft card, driver's
license, birth record, marriage license, or other offida or gpparently officid document
purporting to show that such juvenile was eighteen years of age or over or married, and
the person to whom such document was exhibited did not otherwise have reasonable
cause to believe that such juvenile was under the age of eighteen and unmarried.

(©)(1) Itisan dfirmative defense to charge under this section, involving materid or a
performancethat is obscene or harmful to juveniles, that suchmateria or performancewas
furnished or presented for a bona fide medical, scientific, educational, governmenta,
judicid, or other proper purpose, by a physcian, psychologist, sociologist, scientit,
teacher, librarian, clergyman, prosecutor, judge, or other proper person.

(2) Except asprovided in divison (B) (3) of this section, mistake of age is not a defense
to acharge under this section.

62. Sincethereisno way for online speakers to examine age-verifying documents of persons who
access the Internet, subsection (B)(3) of Section 2907.31 provides little or no defense for prosecutions
under the Act with respect to speech on the Internet. Even if online speskershad the ability to determine
whether someone ng their content was a minor, they would have no way of knowing whether the
minor was accompanied by aparent or legd guardian; therefore, subsection (B)(2) dso falls as a vidble
defense. The defense provided in subsection (C)(1) applies only to alimited number of speakers. Thus,
due to the unavailability of these defenses, the vast mgjority of online speakers are faced withthe threat of
crimina prosecutions againg which they have no affirmative defenses.

63. Section 2907.35(F) of the Act sets forth an additiond affirmative defense that the defendant
“hastaken, ingood faith, reasonable, effective, and appropriate actions under the circumstancesto restrict
or prevent access by juvenilesto [Internet] materid that is harmful to juveniles, including any method that
is feasible under available technology.”

64. As other federd courts have found, “there are no good faith, reasonable, effective and

appropriate actions to restrict or prevent access of minors’ to Internet communications that do not unduly
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impact on the First Amendment rightsof adults. ACLU v. Johnson, 4 F.Supp.2d 1029, aff'd 194 F.3d
1149 (10th Cir. 1999).

65. A vidlation of the Act is punishable by imprisonment of not more than 6 months or afine of not
more than $1,000.00, or both, or, if the materid isfound to be obscene, is punishable by imprisonment for
aperiod of 6 to 12 months or afine of not more than $2,500.00, or both.

The Act’s Impact on Speech Generally

66. The “harmful to juveniles’ definitionessentidly servesto banthe sde of, rental or dissemination
to, and permitting the perusd of, certain congtitutional ly-protected to speech persons under the age of 18.

67. By reasonof itsunconditutiona overbreadthand vagueness, the “ harmful tojuveniles’ definition
will chill the exercise by publishers, digtributors, and retailers of their right to sdll, digtribute, or have sold
or distributed First Amendment-protected materias in the State of Ohio.

The Act’s Impact on Internet Speech

68. The Act bans certain congtitutional ly-protected speech amongadultsand juveniles. Evenif the
“harmful to juveniles’ definitionwere limited in accordance with Ginsberg and Miller, the Act would ill
ban certain congtitutionally-protected speech among adults.

69. Boththe United States Congress and the legidative bodies of many states, induding Michigan,
New Mexico, Virginia, Arizona, and Vermont, have previoudy enacted laws smilar to the Internet
redrictions, dl of which were either held uncondtitutiona or enjoined on Firs Amendment grounds. See
15, supra.

70. Speech on the Internet is generdly available to anyone with access to the appropriate
technology. Anyonewnho postscontent to the Web, chat rooms, mailing lists, and discussion groups makes

it automeatically avalable to dl users worldwide, induding minors. Because minors have access to dl of
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these forums, any communication in these fora which is potentidly “harmful to juveniles’ could be
punishable under the Act. Due to the very nature of the Internet, virtualy every communication on the
I nternet may potentidly be received by aminor and therefore may potentialy be the basis for prosecution,
particularly since knowledge that the recipient isaminor is not required.

71. Because many of the termsin the Act are overbroad, the Act will further chill the speech of
content providersonthe Web. For example, the Act failsto distinguish between materid that is* harmful”
for older as opposed to younger minors.

72. Further, the reference to “prevalling sandards in the adult community with respect to whet is
auitable for juveniles’ is overbroad because, due to the borderless nature of the Internet, it effectively
imposes the standards of the most conservative county in Ohio on content providersand usersin dl other
dates even if other states have more liberd standardsregardingwhat isconsidered “harmful to juveniles.”
As a consequence, content providers and users of the Web will likely err on the Sde of caution and not
post content on the Web that they would otherwise have posted. Inthisway, the Act chills speech onthe
Web and thus causes irreparable harm to the First Amendment freedoms of online speakers, readers, and
users.

73. Mogt of the millions of users on the Internet a some point are either speakers or content
providerssubject tothe Act. Anyonewho sendsan e-mall, participatesin adiscusson group or chat room,
or maintains a home page on the Web potentidly is subject to the Act because his or her communication
might be accessed by a minor in the State of Ohio. Given the technology of the Internet, there are no
reasonable means for these speakers to ascertain the age of persons who access their messages or for

rediricting or preventing access by minorsto certain content. From the perspective of these speskers, the

28



information that they make avallable onthe public spaces of the Internet either must be made available to
al usars of the Internet, including users who may be minors, or it will not be made avallable at dl.

74. For instance, when auser postsamessage to aUSENET discussion group, it is automatically
digtributed to hundreds of thousands of computers around the world, and the speaker has no ahility to
control who will access his or her message from those computers. Smilarly, users who communicate on
mailing lists have no way to determine the ages of other subscribersto thelist. Findly, content providers
on the Web have no reasonable way to verify the age of persons who accesstheir Web sites. For these
reasons, there is no practical way for content providers to withhold materid that may be “harmful to
juveniles’ -- as prohibited by the Act -- from people younger than 18 years old.

75. Moreover, the Act is overbroad because it dlows prosecution even if the sender had no
knowledge or reasonto know of the recipient’sage. Although knowledge of the “character and content”
of the materid is required, knowledge that the recipient isaminor is not required.

76. Because Internet speakers have no means to restrict minors in Ohio from accessing their
communications, the Act effectively requiresamos dl discourse onthe Internet -- whether among citizens
of Ohio or among users anywhere in the world -- to be a a level suitable for young children. The Act
therefore bans an entire category of congtitutionally-protected speech between and among adults on the
Internet.

77. In addition, any personwho disagreeswith or objects to sexua content on the Internet could
cause a spesker to be prosecuted under the Act by having aminor view the online speech, reaulting ina
“heckler’s veto” of Internet speech. Further, any person who objects to sexud content on the Internet
could cause a speaker to fear prosecution under the Act by daming to be a minor, whether or not the

person actudly is one.
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78. The Actdso prohibitsol der minorsfromcommunicatingand access ng protected speech. Even
if some depictions or discussons of nudity and sexud conduct may be considered by some to be
ingppropriate or “harmful” for younger minors, many depictions and discussions -- induding safer sex
resources -- are valuable, at least for older minors.

79. Evenif there were means by which speskers on the Internet could ascertain or verify the age
of persons who receive their content (and there are no suchmeans), requiring usersto identify themselves
and to disclose personal informationinorder to alow verification of age would prevent Internet users from
maintaining their privacy and anonymity on the Internet.

The Act’s Burden on Interstate Commerce

80. The Act’s Internet restrictions impact the speech of online speakers acrossthe nation, not just
in the State of Ohio, because it is impossible for Internet users to determine the geographic location of
persons who access their informetion.  Internet users e'sawhere have no way to determine whether
information posted to the Web, discussion groups, or chat rooms will be accessed by persons resding in
the State of Ohio. The various sites on the Internet can be accessed by anyone in the world; therefore,
there is no way for speakers to ensure that residents of Ohio will not receive their communications. Thus,
al users, even if they do not residein Ohio or intend to communicate with residents of Ohio, must comply
with the Act.

81. The Act unjustifiably burdens interstate commerce and regulates conduct that occurs whally
outside the State of Ohio. The Act chills speakers outside of Ohio and curtails speech that occurs wholly
outside the borders of Ohio, thereby causing irreparable harm. Like the nation’ s railways and highways,
the Internet is by its nature an insrument of interstate commerce. Just as goods and services travel over

state borders by train and truck, information flows across state and nationa borders on the Internet.
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Internet content providers that are located outsde of Ohio, such as The Sexua Hedth Network, as well
as people participating in chat rooms, newsgroups, or mail exploders, have no feasible way to determine
whether thar information will be accessed or downloaded by someone who islocated in Ohio. Just asa
user of the Internet cannot identify the age of another user of the Internet, one aso cannot identify where
a particular user or speaker resides or from where a particular user may be accessing or downloading
information on the Internet. Due to the nature of the technology, a non-Ohioan, even if he or she has no
desire to reach anyone in Ohio, will be forced to self-censor his or her gpeech on the Internet in order to
comply with the Act and to avoid the possibility of prosecution in Ohio. Inthis manner, the Act interferes
ggnificantly with the interstate flow of information and with interstate commerce.

82. Moreover, interstate and internationd computer communications networks -- likethe nation’s
railroads -- congtitute a segment of the economy that particularly demands uniform rules and regulations.

83. Because the definition of “harmful to juveniles’ inO.R.C. § 2907.01(E) dependsin part upon
“prevailing standards inthe adult community,” the Act effectively imposes regulations on interstate speech
that conflict with the community standards of other statesand loca communities. If each Sateimplements
itsown regulations, as Ohio has done, regarding what informationcan be legdly distributed viathe Internet,
interstate commerce will be greatly inhibited and disrupted.  Permitting piecemed regulation requires
persons around the world to embark upon the difficult task of discerning what can and cannot be

communicated in the many different jurisdictions connected to computer networks.
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The Ineffectiveness of the Internet Restriction
and the Effectiveness of Alternative Means

84. Because of the globa nature of the Internet, Defendants cannot demondtrate that the Internet
redtriction is likely to reduce the availability in Ohio of materid that may be “harmful to juveniles’ on the
Internet.

85. It is estimated that gpproximately 40% of the content provided on the Internet originates
abroad. All of the content ontheglobd Internetisequdly avalableto dl Internet usersworldwide and may
be accessed as easily and as cheaply as content that originates locdly. Because it is not technologicaly
possible to prevent content posted abroad from being available to Internet users inthe State of Ohio, the
Internet restrictionwill not accomplishits purported purpose of keegping inappropriate content fromminors
in Ohio.

86. Conversdly, there are many dternative means that are more effective at assgting parents in
limiting aminor’s access to certain materid if desred.

87. Commercid online services like America Online provide features that subscribersmay useto
prevent childrenfrom accessing chat rooms and to block access to Web sites and newsgroupsbased on
keywords, subject matter, or specific newsgroup. These servicesaso offer screening softwarethat blocks
messages containing certain words, as wel as tracking and monitoring software to determine which
resources aparticular online user, such as a child, has accessed. They aso offer children-only discussion
groups that are closely monitored by adults.

88. Online users aso can purchase specia software applications, known as user-based blocking
programs, that enable them to control access to online resources. Theseapplicationsallow usersto block
access to certain resources, to prevent childrenfromgiving personal information to strangers by email or

in chat rooms, and to keep alog of al online activity that occurs on the home computer.
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89. User-based blocking programs are not perfect, both because they fal to screen al
inappropriate materia and because they inadvertently block vaugble Internet Stes. However, avoluntary
decison by concerned parents to use these products for ther children condtitutes a far less restrictive
dternative thanthe Act’ simpodtionof crimind pendtiesfor protected speech uponthe universeof Internet
users.

The Act's Impact on the Plaintiffs

90. Rantiffs, who are or represent publishers, distributors, and sdlers of periodicas, books,
newspapers, motion pictures, videos, and sound recordings sold, rented, or didtributed in Ohio, fear
prosecution under the Act for offering, distributing, or selling materid that might be deemed by some
individuasto be “harmful to juveniles”

91. Fantiffs interact with and use the Internet in a wide variety of ways, including as content
providers, access providers, and users. Thelnternet restriction burdens Plaintiffsin al of these capacities.
Paintiffs are users and content providerswho are subject to the provisons of the Act. Theseplaintiffsfear
prosecution under the Act for communicating, sending, displaying, or digtributing materid that might be
deemed by someto be “harmful to juveniles’ under the Act. They dsofear liability for materid posted by
othersto their online discusson groups, chat rooms, malling lists, and Web dtes. Fantiffs have no way
to avoid prosecutionunder the Act and are left withtwo equdly untenable dternatives: (1) risk prosecution
under the Act, or (2) attempt to engageinself-censorship, which, asaresult, deniesadultsand older minors
access to condtitutional ly-protected materid.

BookFriends, Inc. d/b/aWilkie News

92. PHantff Wilkie stocksover 1,500 different titles inits Dayton, Ohio bookstore and mantans

an additional 142,000 titles in its database, many of which contain foul words, descriptions of violence,

33



torture, crudty, or violent desth, and whichglamorize crimind activity or discuss human sexudity. Shortly,
Wilkie will be reactivating its online store to offer over 250,000 titles, many of whichhave smilar content.

93. Wilkie sright to offer and sdll afull range of mainstream condtitutionally-protected materids
will be serioudly infringed if the Act is not enjoined. Should the Act remain in effect, Wilkie will beforced
to sdlf-censor or risk prosecution under the Act.

American Booksdlers Foundation for Free Expression

94. Maintiff ABFFE has hundreds of bookseller members who are located from coast to coast,
including the State of Ohio. Those located in Ohio, such as plaintiff Wilkie, sl and offer for sde books
and other materias that contain repeated foul words, descriptions of violence, torture, crudty, or violent
deeth, and which glamorize crimind activity or discuss humansexudity. Although ABFFE smembersare
not “adult bookstores,” many member bookstores do use the Internet and eectronic communications to
obtain informationand excerpts of books from publisherswhichmay include nudity and which dedl frankly
withthe subject of humansexudity. For example, member booksellersmay review current popular titles--
suchasby FrancesaLiaBlock, Pictures & Passion: A History of Homosexualityinthe Visual Artsby
JamesW. Sadow, and American Pastoral by Philip Roth-- whichincdude passages or images describing
nudity and sexua conduct. Some member bookstores aso have ther own Web pages that discuss the
contents of books sold in stores.

95. ABFFE members right to offer and sdl in Ohio afull range of mainsreammeaterids, and learn
about, acquire, and distribute materid containing nudity and sexua conduct, and their patrons' right to
purchase such materids, will be serioudy infringed if the Act isnot enjoined.  Should the Act remain in
effect, ABFFE membersand the publisherswithwhomthey transact businesswill be forced to self-censor

or risk prosecution under the Act.



Association of American Publishers, Inc.

96. Fantiff AAP sueson behdf of itsmemberswho are providers of mainsreambooks and other
materids to retailers in Ohio, as wel as those who are content providers and users of the Internet.
Although their businesses are primarily based on print publishing, AAP' s members are very actively
involved inthe Internet. AAP' s members create electronic products to accompany and supplement their
printed books and journass; create custom educationa materia onthe Internet; communicate with authors
and others, receive manuscripts, and edit, typeset, and design books eectronicaly; transmit finished
products to licensed end-user customers; communicate with bookstores and other wholesde and retall
accounts, and promote authors and titles online.

97. Many of AAP' s members have Web pages and provide information to the world on the
Internet. Some of the content provided by AAP s members contains nudity or sexua conduct. Many of
the efforts to ban books in various communities have been directed at books published by AAP's
members. AAP fearsthat the Act will spawn smilar efforts directed at AAP' s online publishing. If the
“harmful to juveniles’ definition is not enjoined, AAP members will be forced to limit Ohio residents from
accessto many important books. If the Internet restriction is not enjoined, AAP members will be forced
ether to risk crimind ligbility or to stop providing online access to congtitutionally-protected books and
other related materials.

Freedom to Read Foundation, Inc.

98. Hantiff FTRF and its library and librarian members, both public and private, serve as both
access and content providers a physicd librariesin the State of Ohio and on the Internet. Becausethe
Internet offersther patrons a unique opportunity to accessinformationfor free, many librariesprovide their

patrons withfadlitiesthat patrons can useto access the Internet. Many libraries al'so have their own Web
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gteson the Internet and usethe Internet to post card cata ogues, to post information about current events,
to sponsor chat rooms, to provide textud information and graphic design, and to post online versions of
materids from thelr library collections. Patrons can, for example, access the Web site of certain libraries
from anywhere in the country to peruse the libraries card catalogues, review an encyclopedia reference,
or check adefinition in the dictionary.

99. Some of themateridsprovided or made available by libraries contain nudity or sexua conduct.
For example, FTRF member libraries physica and online card catal oguesindude suchworks as Forever
by Judy Blume, Women on Top by Nancy Friday, Changing Bodies, Changing Lives by RuthBdl, Our
Bodies, Our Selves by the Boston Women's Hedlth Collective and It’ s Perfectly Normal by Robie
Harris. Others contain repeated foul language, descriptions of violence, torture, crudty, or violent death,
or glamorize crimind activity.

100. If the “harmful to juveniles’ definition is not enjoined, Ohio'slibraries will be forced to limit
Ohio resdents from access to many and important books and other materids. If the Internet restriction
isnot enjoined, librarieswill be inhibited fromboth posting and providing access to materidsonthe Internet
that contain nudity or sexua conduct. Adult library patrons and Internet users would thus be deprived of
accessto these condtitutiona ly-protected library materids. Given the globd and unrestricted nature of the
Internet and the past attempts by persons to bar literature and reference items from library collections,
many of FTRF s members may choose not to post a substantial amount of expressve materid at dl --
materid that many adults might consider ussful for themsdves or their own children -- rather than risk
prosecution for posting meterid that might beillegd in Ohio.

The Nationd Association of Recording Merchandisers
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101. NARM’s members sal sound recordingsin the State of Ohio. Further, some of NARM’s
members are online music retailers who market their recordings by permitting Internet users to download
musc samplesbefore making a purchase with their credit cards. Permitting users to sample music before
identifying themsalves is an important festure of this marketing strategy. NARM members are concerned
that they may be exposed to crimind ligbility under the Act smply for migudging what may be deemed
“harmful to juveniles’ under an ambiguous and overbroad standard.

Ohio Newspaper Association

102. All the daily and most of the weekly newspapersin Ohio are membersof ONA. Given the
nature of current events, these newspapers often describe death, torture, crudty and crime inther print and
online papersthat some might consider “harmful tojuveniles” Unlessthe Actisenjoined, much of thenews
reported in Ohio’s newspapers must be sdlf-censored.

The Sexual Health Network, Inc.

103. Paintiff The Sexua Hedth Network’s Web ste (Sexuahedth.com) includes awide array
of sex education materias for people with disabilities and chronic diseases. Some resources are written
gpecificaly for The Sexua HealthNetwork, while other materids are adapted from other sources. Topics
covered include both general matters-- suchasinformationabout the effects of aging on sexudlity or idess
to hdlp increase women' s sexud pleasure -- to disability-specific issues-- suchassexua postions that may
enhance intercourse for individuas with particular dissbilities or advice on deding with low sexud sdif-
esteem that may accompany adisability.

104. Thearticlesand other information available on Sexua health.com necessarily involvethe use
of sudly explict language and visud images. Frank, detailed explanations are given in order for the

information that the Ste provides to be useful to its viewers.
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105. Sexudhedth.com dso includes forums where individuals may ask each other questionsand
share informetion.  This interactive feature helps to keep people coming back to the ste, because it
provides congtantly changing content, and dlows individuas -- who may be geographicadly isolated from
others with smilar disabilities or illnesses -- to experience a*“support group” environment.

106. The Sexud Health Network’s Web site also provides links to other sexudity-related Sites,
such as the one maintained by the Sindar Intimacy Indtitute, a producer of explicit educational videos
designed to help couples improve their sex lives.

107. The Sexud Hedth Network fears that making the materias on the Sexuahedth.com ste
avalable online could be aleged to congtitute distribution of materiad that is“harmful to juveniles’ and thus
subject it to prosecution under the Act.

108. If the Act isnot enjoined, the Sexual Hedlth Network must choose between risking crimina
prosecution or curtailing its speech by removing from its Ste any material that could be alleged to be
“harmful to juveniles”

Video Software Dedlers Association

109. Members of Plaintiff VSDA produce the vast mgority of video recordings in the United
States, some of which include sexudly explicit, violent, or otherwise provocative scenes. The videos are
digtributed and sold in Ohio; in addition, some of the videos are available to the public on the Internet.

110. VSDA members are concerned that the Act requires them to censor their videos. For this
reason, VSDA believes that the Act imposes uncondtitutional censorship that substantidly limits the
potentia to enhance the diversity, availability, timeliness, quality, and utility of motion pictures on video.

111. If the Act is not enjoined, VSDA members might be crimindly liable for congtitutionaly-

protected content if they do not self-censor.
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CAUSESOF ACTION
COUNT |

Violation of Adults Rights Under the First and Fourteenth
Amendmentsto the United States Constitution

112. Paintiffs repeat and redllege paragraphs one (1) through one hundred eleven (111) asif set
forth in ther entirety.

113. The Act violates the rights of Plaintiffs, their members, and their users under the First and
Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Congtitution on its face and as gpplied becauseit effectivdy
bans condtitutiona ly-protected speech by and between adults and the dissemination of such speech to
adults.

114. The Act violates the rights of Plaintiffs, ther members, and their users under the First and
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution because it is not the least restrictive means of
accomplishing any compelling governmenta purpose.

115. The Act violates the rights of Plaintiffs, their members, and their users under First and
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution because it is substantialy overbroad.

COUNT 11

Violation of Minors RightsUnder the First and
Fourteenth Amendmentsto the United States Constitution

116. Paintiffs repesat and reallege paragraphs one (1) through one hundred fifteen (115) asif set
forth in ther entirety.

117. The Act violates the rights of Rlaintiffs, ther members, and their users under the First and
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Congtitution because it interfereswiththe rights of minorsto

purchase, rent, access, and view materid that to them is protected by the First Amendment.
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118. TheActisuncongtitutiond becauseit definesas” harmful tojuveniles’, and therefore prohibits
dissemination to minors of, materid protected by the First Amendment as to them.

COUNT 111

Unconstitutional Vagueness Under the Fifth and Fourteenth
Amendmentsto the United States Constitution

119. Paintiffsrepeat and reallege paragraphs one (1) through one hundred eighteen (118) as if
st forth in their entirety.

120. The Act violaes the rights of Plaintiffs, their members, and their users in that it is
uncondtitutionally vague and indefinitebecause it fails to providefar notice asto what conditutesa crimind
offense.

COUNT IV

Violation of the Right to Communicate and Access Information Anonymoudy
Under the First and Fourteenth Amendmentsto the United States Constitution

121. Paintiffs repesat and redlege paragraphs one (1) through one hundred twenty (120) asif set
forth in their entirety.

122. The Act violates therights of Plaintiffs, their members, and their users under the First and
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Condiitution to communicate and access information
anonymoudy, insofar as it effectively requires Internet usersto identify themselves inorder to gain access
to condtitutionally-protected speech.

COUNT V

Violation of the Commerce Clause
of the United States Constitution

123. Paintiffs repeat and realege paragraphs one (1) through one hundred twenty-two (122) as

if st forth in their entirety.
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124. TheAct violatestherights of Plaintiffs, their members, and their users under the Commerce
Clause because it condtitutes an unreasonable and undue burden on interstate and foreign commerce.

125. TheAct violatestherights of Plaintiffs, their members, and their users under the Commerce
Clause because it subjectsinterstate use of the Internet to inconsstent regulations.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court:

A. Declare that House Bill 8, to the extent that it enacts O.R.C. 88 2907.01 and 2906.37,
violates the Firdt, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments and the Commerce Clause of the
United States Congtitution;

B. Prdiminarily and permanently enjoindefendants, their officers, agents, servants, employees,
and attorneys, and those persons inactive concert or participation with them who receive
actud notice of the injunction, from enforcing the provisions of House Bill 8;

C. Award Paintiffs their reasonable costs and fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and

D. Grant plaintiffs such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.
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